### Health and Wellbeing Board

### 17 April 2019

### West Midlands Fire Service Overview of Prevention Activities in Walsall

### Purpose

This report gives an overview of how the Prevention agenda within West Midlands Fire Service's Strategic Plan, is ensuring that Health and Wellbeing is at the forefront of its vision of making 'West Midlands Safer, Stronger and Healthier'.

### Recommendations

That the Health & Wellbeing Board note the activity that West Midlands Fire Service (WMFS) is actively engaging in, to support the Board's priorities around Health and Wellbeing.

Report detail

### Back Home Safe and Well

Pilot for Provision of Back Home Safe & Well Service from Hospital. At this moment in time we are not in a position to progress this piece of work.

#### **Complex Needs**

Walsall Fire Station is currently supporting/leading a wider piece of work within the West Midlands Combined Authorities - Public Sector Reform strategy. Specifically including, defining and supporting systemic change for people with Multiple, Complex Needs (Homelessness, Substance Misuse, Mental Health and Offending). People with multiple complex needs often suffer from health problems, unemployment and family breakdown. Current services are not adequately supporting these people, leading to

Key issues to address include:

unfulfilled lives and high service and social costs.

- Defining what Multiple Complex needs are, based on such issues as offending, homelessness or substance misuse
- Updating research suggesting high common occurrences of prevalent behaviour in the West Midlands
- Addressing the higher public service costs associated with people with multiple complex needs.

There are many other factors influencing whether someone develops multiple complex needs. Issues to explore include:

- Resilience (including mental and emotional wellbeing)
- Attachment (and neglect)
- Adverse childhood experiences
- Trauma (e.g. domestic violence)
- Relationships and social networks (especially loss of key family members)
- Behaviours (including individual, community, professional and parenting behaviour)
- Protective factors
- Effective support (e.g. mentoring)
- Community impact (on localities and interest groups)
- The importance of structure and a sense of purpose in everyday living.

To date WMFS have worked with organisations from across the West Midlands including many in Walsall as well as the service users themselves to gain an understanding of the issues faced by both and where there needs to be change within the system that will ultimately increase life chances for all and in doing so also reduce the expenditure of services by reducing demand. Further report attached.

### Our People

Our Vulnerable Persons Officers (VPOs) have completed 59 VPO cases in the last 12 months in the Walsall area. WMFS have also now upskilled our VPO's. They are now known as Complex needs officers (CNO). In Walsall, WMFS have five CNO's are receiving higher level of development in areas such as Hoarding, Mental Health, substance misuse, dealing with Safe guarding support for crews and all hold enhanced DBS. They are all now using the apprenticeship program and fully involved in taking on higher level cases as well as supporting crews on scene from remote locations. CNO's work tirelessly to achieve the greatest protection and service for those most at risk. Their specialist training ensures that they are fully aware of Mental Health Challenges, Safeguarding, hoarding as well as substance/alcohol misuse and dependency procedures working closely with our relevant partners to intervene and secure the best outcome. WMFS understands the importance of creating a safer environment to support independent living, allowing our vulnerable people to remain in their homes where this is appropriate. These officers are at the forefront of this service. All BCN Fire fighters hold a current standard DBS check.

Staff at Walsall Fire Station have been recently recognised by the Mayor of Walsall and Michael Hurt of NHS Walsall CCG for their efforts in spreading awareness in the Organisation around dementia to make their services more dementia friendly. This has been hugely beneficial as an added value to both staff and residents of Walsall through interaction and intervention with our Safe and Well visits (SAW) and other community based activities. . Champions are clearly identified wearing the Champion Insignia on their lapels.

A new 'Smoke Free Homes' initiative -During safe & Well visits, Bloxwich Fire Station crews are actively promoting the smoke free homes initiative. If this is shown to be successful following evaluation, this will be rolled out across the Walsall area. This is in partnership with Walsall's Public Health team.

#### Upskilling our teams

All watches in Walsall stations have completed and are receiving updated <u>Prevent</u> training to ensure crews understand and know what to look for, know the signs and feel confident enough to raise the concern and ask the relevant questions. Sessions are delivered by WM Police as part of the Prevent agenda and a WMFS own internal approved trainer.

Modern day slavery and Child exploitation personnel development is being rolled out through on line packages internally and partnered with ongoing CNO support. The Walsall conurbation are seeing shared intelligence with partners including Border force and WM Police, several joint operations within the Black Country North (BCN) area has seen joint VPO and Fire safety attendance.

Walsall area Fires stations have approached WM Police to be included within the Hate crime strategy, we work closely with many diverse groups and attend arson related incidents. This has been agreed with the Walsall safer partnership, WM police are forwarding those at risk from arson and WMFS are fitting Letter box protectors where appropriate including offering safety advise and evacuation plans.

Walsall Fire Station is trialling a New SAW pathway referral with Nash Dom and trying to access hard to reach groups from Eastern European backgrounds. Station watches are attending events to welcome and support new families in to the Walsall area and offering fire safety advice and SAW.

BCN Fire crews are also working with alcohol and drug rehabilitation groups such as the Beacon centre, Walsall Manor Women's project, rehab 4 addiction. This work is relevant when teams discussing the issues around what and when individuals involved in drugs/ illegal highs and alcohol impacts on others. Referenced as a trusted public service who attend to deal with the aftermath with a different perspective to our partners, WMFS work closely to ensure support for these proactive centres from a public service point of view and educate the outcomes of what officers see. Our teams have completed Drug and legal high awareness training.

Through the Safe and Well visits WMFS has created an approach to Healthy lifestyles and Healthy eating as well as ensuring those identified are living safely and independently. Our safety service incorporates all lifestyle choices and offers support, referrals to partners such as the Falls response service and sensory teams as well as signposting to other services both Public and Volunteers. During the visit WMFS also monitor carbon monoxide levels to ensure that those most at risk are not being exposed to dangerous products from faulty gas or solid fuel heaters, cooker or boilers.

SANDS Charity group is now fully embedded in to Walsall Fire station, holding meetings once a month from our community facility, the service supports bereaved parents of new babies and children, and WMFS support with Safe and Well visits and referrals in the Walsall area.

Walsall Adult Social Care, health and home visits refer identified vulnerable persons for Safe and Well referrals including former Community Alarm users. The WMFS Tracs initiative number is 1951 allows us to track completion and it has referred 352 individuals in the last Quarter (period 4) across Willenhall, Aldridge, Bloxwich and Walsall.

WMP (West Midlands Police) are providing data and referrals to WMFS for their identified Vulnerable Persons such as victims of Arson, threat of arson, Burglary, domestic violence,

hate crimes and Harassment. Through Jamie Hobday and Tracey Bull this partnership is trialling over a month's worth of Police referrals to see the value and impact SAW will have with this target group. The current evaluation has seen 20 independent referrals completed.

Walsall NHS Trust maintains it's Safe and Well referral partnership for medical oxygen users across the Walsall authority area. WMFS are informed when each individual has medical oxygen installed in their home, prior to discharge and also when decommissioned through either health improvement, further hospitalisation or due to loss of life.

Making Connections Walsall Through this project WMFS are now delivering Safe and Well visits following referrals from a wide range of partners including the Voluntary sector, this partnership pathway is due for renewal and full evaluation. We a view to continue and improve the service at every level.

WMFS Cadets A number of the Walsall Fire stations (Aldridge and Bloxwich) have WMFS cadets running 18-week programs for children ages between 12 -16, they engage in Fire Service activity as well as Health and well- being modules for the period of time, through mentoring and coaching they receive recognised qualification and can stay on to become Cadet instructors.

Health related projects New NHS data sharing protocol and agreement signed for early years referrals, six-week pilot with new mums and feeding clinics held at Walsall Fire Service premises. This pilot has now been completed and deemed successful and WMFS are now looking to extend further with a wide range of groups including youth intervention services.

#### Future projects.

Our Governance is due to transfer from the Fire & Rescue Authority to the Mayor of the WMCA. This is expected later this year, subject to the legal process. Following this, we will have an opportunity to more closely align our strategy with that of the Combined Authority. This will enable close collaboration on the clean air and road safety strategies.

Implications for Joint Working arrangements: The Health & Wellbeing Strategy is a partnership strategy and therefore West Midlands Fire Service will always seek to work collaboratively with partners to contribute to service delivery and improvement.

Health and Wellbeing Priorities: Following Assessment of need in Walsall through the current Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), the Economic Needs Assessment and the Strategic Assessment to inform the Community Safety Plan the two overarching priorities are:

- Improve healthy life expectancy
- Reduce Inequalities

Author Name – Juliet Malone Operations Commander West Midlands Fire Service

(0121 380 7751 07973 810269)

Juliet.malone@wmfs.net





WEST MIDLANDS FIRE SERVICE

# Multiple and Complex Needs in the West Midlands:

## Individuals with lived experience tell their story

Dr Rachel Massie & Professor Laura Caulfield Institute for Community Research and Development

with

Mitchell Lee & Vikki Holland West Midlands Combined Authority

April 2019

# Contents

Executive Summaryi
Authorsiii
Acknowledgementsiii
1. Background1
2. Methodology
2.1 Data collection3
2.2 Data analysis
2.3 Participants3
3. Findings5
3.1 Experiencing adversity5
3.2 Interaction with Support Services10
Early intervention10
Seeking support13
Reintegration into society15
4. Summary
5. References

## **Executive Summary**

### Multiple and Complex Needs in the West Midlands

#### Background

People facing multiple and complex needs experience at least two of the following at the same time: homelessness, substance misuse, offending behaviours and mental ill health. An estimated minimum of 58,000 people in England in any one year experience homelessness, substance misuse <u>and</u> contact with the criminal justice system (Hard Edges report: Bramley et al., 2015). A further 164,000 individuals were estimated to experience a combination of two of these problems (Bramley et al., 2015). Approximately 16,800 individuals are estimated to be facing multiple and complex needs across the West Midlands (Bramley et al., 2015).

Informed responses require both quantitative and qualitative understandings. Qualitative insights are of particular value when understanding the specifics of the local area, and exploring the response of services. This report moves from the numbers into the real voice and experience of individuals with multiple and complex needs here in the West Midlands. Unstructured qualitative interviews were conducted with 25 people with multiple and complex needs, living in the West Midlands. Participants were asked about their earliest memory and spoke about their life and key events from that point. The data was analysed using a process of thematic analysis.

#### **Key findings**

Two main themes emerged from the unstructured interviews. In the first theme - **Experiencing Adversity** - participants described a number of adverse childhood experiences (including abuse and neglect, witnessing domestic violence and parental separation), and how, in some instances, these led to health harming behaviours such as substance misuse. The theme also explored how the surrounding environment and significant others led to adverse experiences being perceived as the social norm, in addition to facilitating substance misuse and criminal activity.

The second theme, **Interaction with Support Services**, described missed opportunities to intervene at an early stage both at home and at school. When seeking support, participants reported both positive (person-centred, accessible services) and negative experiences (slow processes, not responding to their multiple needs). Finally, peer support was highly valued and considered integral to the recovery process and reintegrating into society.

#### Summary

This study presents the voice and experience of individuals in the West Midlands region who have multiple complex needs. The report adds a local-level, qualitative understanding and supports previous research highlighting the negative impact of adverse childhood experiences and the importance of early intervention during childhood. Statutory and voluntary services, supported by peer mentors, need to be coordinated to provide the most effective support for individuals with multiple and complex needs. Furthermore, successful reintegration into society requires equipping individuals with the knowledge, skills and opportunities to satisfy their life values and provide them with identity and purpose.

Dr Rachel Massie and Professor Laura Caulfield Institute for Community Research and Development University of Wolverhampton

with

Mitchell Lee and Vikki Holland West Midlands Combined Authority

April 2019

# Authors

Dr Rachel Massie is Research Fellow in the Institute for Community Research and Development, at the University of Wolverhampton. Her research interests are in the area of community research with vulnerable groups. She has experience of conducting mixedmethods evaluations of community programmes designed to improve the health and wellbeing of vulnerable groups (including young people, individuals living with long-term conditions, and individuals with multiple and complex needs).

Professor Laura Caulfield is Director of the Institute for Community Research and Development at the University of Wolverhampton. Laura is an expert in the evaluation of programmes designed to reduce risk of crime, and she has particular expertise in evaluating arts and creative programme in the criminal justice system. She has designed and conducted over 25 research evaluations and has received funding from the Home Office, Economic and Social Research Council, the NHS, the Ministry of Justice, and several third-sector organisations. Her latest book, 'Criminological Skills and Research for Beginners', was published by Routledge in April 2018.

# Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the West Midlands Combined Authority for organising the gathering of interview data. We would also like to thank all of the individuals that took the time to share their story with the researchers.

## 1. Background

Research by the Lankelly Chase Foundation estimates a minimum of 58,000 people in England experience a combination of three multiple and complex needs in any one year, with a further 164,000 individuals estimated to experience a combination of two needs (Bramley et al., 2015). Also known as 'severe and multiple disadvantage', 'multiple needs', or 'extreme social exclusion', individuals experiencing multiple and complex needs face at least two of the following at the same time: homelessness, substance misuse, offending behaviours and mental ill health. Based on three national datasets<sup>1</sup>, approximately 16,800 individuals are estimated to be facing multiple and complex needs in the West Midlands (Bramley et al., 2015).

Individuals experiencing multiple and complex needs often have a poor quality of life, experience mental and physical health issues, feel socially isolated, marginalised, and unsupported by services (Anderson, 2011; Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG), 2015; Rosengard et al., 2007). In addition to the impact multiple and complex needs have on peoples' lives, they also lead to significant social and economic costs associated with a failure to provide effective support (Bramley et al., 2015; DCLG, 2015). As a guide, it has been estimated that the annual cost for public spending on services are four to five times higher for individuals with multiple and complex needs compared to a benchmark figure per adult (£19,000 vs. £4,600 respectively) (Bramley et al., 2015). Previous research has highlighted how individuals often fall between the gaps of service provision due to their multiple needs, are unable to access the services they need, and receive inappropriate or uncoordinated support and interventions (Cornes et al., 2011; Neale et al., 2018; Rankin and Regan, 2004; Rosengard et al., 2007). Recognising and understanding the multiplicity of experiences faced by individuals is important to inform policy and to focus on preventive or early intervention approaches rather than repetitive, expensive interventions and support when individuals reach crisis point.

To understand the range of needs an individual may need support with, the complexity needs to be appreciated. When needs are considered in isolation they are often sub-threshold to receive support, but when considered together the support required is extensive. Miller and Appleton (2015: p.24) argue, "only integrated services can respond to people and communities who have complex needs" and that competing agendas within funding and policy can undermine this approach. Whilst previous research has predominantly focused attention on specific needs in isolation, more recently there has been a drive towards addressing multiple and complex needs and helping organisations respond to these needs. For example, the Big Lottery Fund has invested over £100 million

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Homeless Link's Health Needs Audit; National Drug Treatment Monitoring System; Offender Assessment System

into work that supports people with multiple and complex needs to live fulfilling and supported lives (Big Lottery Fund).

Furthermore, to realise the complexity of needs in the West Midlands, informed responses require both quantitative and qualitative understandings. Qualitative insights are of particular value when understanding the specifics of the local area, and exploring the response of services through first-hand accounts of the service users. This report moves from the numbers highlighted in the Hard Edges report, into the real voice and experience of individuals living with multiple and complex needs in the West Midlands, in their own words. The aim of this report is to highlight and understand the lived experience of individuals with multiple and complex needs in the West Midlands, in order to inform the Public Service Reform Agenda of the West Midlands Combined Authority.

# 2. Methodology

## 2.1 Data collection

Unstructured qualitative interviews were conducted with people with multiple and complex needs, living in the West Midlands. West Midlands Fire Service employees and Accenture carried out the interviews, which lasted between 1 and 2 hours. Participants were asked about their earliest memory and spoke about their life and key events from that point. Interviewers took notes throughout the interview to capture the participant's story. Stories were captured in a variety of means, including the use of different tenses (written in first and/or third person accounts); different formats (notes and written prose); and different programmes (Word and Excel).

## 2.2 Data analysis

The ICRD team received anonymised transcripts of the interviews for analysis. Qualitative data was analysed using a process of thematic analysis (Braun and Clarke, 2006; Caulfield and Hill, 2018). The researchers immersed themselves in the process of familiarisation via reading the transcripts thoroughly, an important first stage in a thematic analysis.

Working through the transcripts line-by-line, the data was coded inductively (i.e. the codes and themes emerge from the data itself rather than applying pre-existing structure to the data). The iterative process of analysis allowed the coded data to form themes, before reviewing these against the data and literature.

Two researchers were involved in this process to ensure consistency in interpretation of the data. Findings were also cross-checked with the interviewers, based on their experiences and reflections from conducting data collection. NVivo 11 software was used to manage the data analysis process.

## 2.3 Participants

Qualitative interviews were conducted with 25 individuals (18 male and 7 female) during 2016 and 2017, and the transcripts provided to the ICRD team for analysis. All of the participants had experienced varying needs during their lives as shown in Table 1. The majority were identified as being in recovery at the time of interview. Of the four factors that are currently considered when defining multiple and complex needs:

- Twenty-four participants spoke of substance misuse (alcohol and/or drug misuse).
- Nine participants mentioned being homeless during their adult life.
- Seven participants had been in contact with the criminal justice system.
- Mental health issues were apparent for 18 of the participants interviewed.

The number of needs referred to by participants ranged between two and five, with an average of three needs<sup>2</sup>.

	Multiple and Complex Needs							
Pseudonym	Alcohol Misuse	Drug Abuse	Homelessness	Mental Health Issues	Criminal Justice System			
Aid		Y		Y				
Andrew	Y	Y	Y					
Barbara		Y		Y				
Bess	Y			Y				
Chris	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y			
Craig	Y	Y		Y				
Dave		Y	Y	Y				
David	Y		Y	Y				
Dominic	Y			Y				
Fiona		Y		Y				
Fred		Y			Y			
Harry	Y		Y		Y			
Holly		Y						
lan	Y		Y	Y				
James		Y	Y	Y	Y			
Jane	Y			Y				
Louise	Y			Y				
Mark	Y	Y		Y				
Pete	Y	Y	Y					
Rob	Y	Y		Y	Y			
Sarah								
Scott	Y	Y		Y	Y			
Sian	Y	Y		Y				
Steve	Y			Y				
Tom		Y	Y		Y			
	16	16	9	18	7			

Table 1. Multiple and complex needs of participants

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> One participant interviewed had not experienced substance misuse/homelessness/contact with the criminal justice system/mental health issues, but had experienced seven adverse childhood experiences. Her interview was thought to be useful for inclusion to explore her resilience to multiple and complex needs.

# 3. Findings

The thematic analysis identified two main themes and three subthemes, listed in Table 2. Each theme is discussed with reference to the literature to provide context to the findings. Illustrative quotes are also provided throughout the discussion below.

Table 2: Overview	of themes/subthemes
-------------------	---------------------

Theme	Subtheme				
1. Experiencing Adversity					
2. Interaction with Support Services	a. Early Intervention				
	b. Seeking Support				
	c. Reintegration into Society				

## 3.1 Experiencing adversity

This theme explores the adverse experiences recalled by participants and subsequent impact, including how such experiences were supported and/or perceived as normal during their childhood.

When asked about their earliest memory, all of the participants spoke of their upbringing in relation to their parents, siblings and childhood experiences. Only three participants spoke of positive childhood memories in which they had a *"brill upbringing"* [Aid], where *"family dynamics were good"* [Bess], or where they had *"nothing but happy memories"* [Dave].

Twenty-three participants spoke of negative events in their childhood, with 21 participants describing exposure to traumatic and stressful experiences whilst growing up, including direct harm and living in dysfunctional home environments (Table 3). These experiences are termed adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) which can result in poor social and health outcomes across the life course (Bellis et al., 2013).

	Adverse Childhood Experiences											
	Direct Harm					Dysfunctional Household						
	Physical Abuse	Verbal Abuse	Sexual Abuse	Physical Neglect	Emotional Neglect	Parent Separation	Domestic Violence	Mental Illness	Alcohol Abuse	Drug Use	Incarceration/Deceased	Total number of ACEs
Aid												0
Andrew						Y		Y				2
Barbara			Y					Y				2
Bess											Y	1
Chris					Y						Y	2
Craig	Y								Y			2 2
Dave												0
David	Y				Y	Y						3
Dominic						Y						1
Fiona												0
Fred	Y			Y				Y	Y			4
Harry								Y	Y			2
Holly	Y						Y		Y		Y	4
lan												0
James	Y					Y	Y		Y	Y		5
Jane			Y			Y						2
Louise											Y	1
Mark			Y			Y						2
Pete									Y		Y	2
Rob					Y	Y						2
Sarah	Y		Y	Y			Y	Y	Y		Y	7
Scott								Y	Y			2
Sian							Y		Y			2
Steve							Y		Y		Y	3
Tom	Y			Y		Y		Y			Y	5
	7	0	4	3	3	8	5	7	10	1	8	56

**Table 3.** List of adverse childhood experiences that participants disclosed during the interview $^3$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> It is possible that participants were exposed to more adverse childhood experiences than presented in the table, but chose not to disclose these during the interview.

Participants described mental health issues within their family, including parents diagnosed with depression and/or anxiety, in addition to witnessing substance misuse and domestic violence when they were growing up.

"Mental health issues were a strain that ran through his extended family. His grandmother was schizophrenic and was psychologically "tormented". His uncle had been previously been sectioned." [Andrew]

"Both were alcoholics and his father had depression and anxiety." [Harry]

"His parents were neglectful, failing to feed him and there was always the threat of violence from other family members." [Fred]

Another adverse experience reported by 14 participants related to the separation of parents and/or death of an immediate family member. Participants recalled how such difficult times often led to the *"family dynamic changing"* [Bess].

Three of the seven female participants disclosed sexual abuse during their childhood, but had a lack of understanding of what was happening or how to stop it:

"Lived with parents until three and was sexually abused by neighbour. Wasn't aware of what was happening until later in life." [Jane]

In one instance, the participant explained that the abuse only stopped through the perpetrator being "caught in the act and threatened" [Sarah].

Such experiences also had a lasting impact through into adulthood. For example, Jane described the impact of previous sexual abuse on a current relationship:

"Started to struggle with the physical side of the relationship, had flashbacks about childhood but could not stop this and would not allow her to be intimate with him. ... as she suffered from flashbacks, became scared to sleep because of the dreams and this drove her to drink more." [Jane]

When thinking about their school days, participants reported mixed experiences. Five participants spoke of positive school experiences:

"He did well at school, with a strong attendance and good grades." [Andrew]

"I enjoyed school. Sports captain of the school. Deputy-Head boy. Played the drums. Loved everything about school." [Aid]

"He was a model pupil and got a Governor's award." [Steve]

In contrast, eight participants reported being bullied and feeling isolated during their school years:

"He found it hard to fit in and was a loner at school, bullied because of his clothes." [Ian]

"Extensively bullied at school." [Dave]

#### "Was bullied and isolated from an early age." [Bess]

Reflecting upon their stories, nine participants recognised the negative events at school as a turning point in their lives. In some instances, it is possible that these events contributed to subsequent health harming behaviours such as substance misuse and contact with the criminal justice system, as described by the following three participants:

"Learned to become a bully to stop herself being bullied. Was actually clever but began to resent school from the past experiences. Went to juvenile court because of none attendance [at school]." [Bess]

"My sister was having all the attention. My mom was working away a lot and my dad was always in the pub. So I started to hang around with the older lads as they accepted me, I started to smoke and drink with them." [Craig]

"Was bullied by older kids. When he was in his second year he was beaten by a lad in the fourth year. He got angry and lashed out. He felt something had changed and he became untouchable. This gave him confidence/arrogance. This carried on and he started to hang around into this young gang culture at 12-14 years old. He began to get a reputation for being a bit of a bad lad [stealing car parts and drinking]." [Steve]

The adverse experiences recalled by participants were not limited to their childhood. Many participants spoke of being the recipient of continued physical abuse, domestic violence and social isolation in their adult life:

"She was abusive towards Aid." [Aid]

"This relationship was very violent ... a very abusive job. She accepted the violence, didn't feel she could talk to anyone." [Bess]

During the interviews, participants identified substance misuse in particular, as a coping mechanism for the physical and sexual abuse, bullying, and loss of loved ones that they experienced:

"This is when the drinking started, she used it to allow her to sleep as she was struggling to sleep due to the domestic violence." [Bess]

"The alcohol numbed the pain about [the death of] her mum, and the bullying." [Louise]

There is sufficient evidence to suggest that adverse childhood experiences can have a negative impact on young people and their future lives. Adverse childhood experiences can result in an increased likelihood of engaging in risky health behaviours, such as substance misuse and criminal activities during adulthood (Bellis et al., 2013; Hughes et al., 2017).

Bellis et al. (2013) conclude that stable and protective childhoods are vital to build and develop resilience against health-harming behaviours.

Twenty-one participants referred to the environments they grew up in, lived in and worked in, along with the people they interacted with, as conducive to health-harming behaviours. The environments in which participants grew up in led to particular experiences being perceived as 'the norm', as highlighted in the following three quotes:

"...began starting fires at school to get people's attention. This behaviour became normalised and he didn't see it as alarming behaviour." [James]

"...dad was violent and would smash things up. This was always when he was drunk. He would always display signs of anger. This just became the social norm." [Steve]

"Her mom was still very physical with her and would give her a good hiding. ... She believed it was acceptable to be beaten." [Sarah]

Reflecting back on his life, Andrew recognised such environments did not contribute to a good upbringing:

*"His house was not a good environment to grow up in with substance misuse and mental health behaviours commonplace."* [Andrew]

Participants described key individuals that they interacted with (friends, peers, older children, partners and siblings) as having a 'bad influence' on their lives, often leading to behaviours such as, taking drugs, heavy drinking and crime.

"Only now he realises this. That he learned his aggressive and drinking behaviour from [his Dad]". [Steve]

"However he did not have a strong male role model in his life and as he got older he became susceptible to bad influences from those around him." [Andrew]

*"Wasn't feeling ambitious as was surrounded by others in a same situation didn't receive help."* [Dominic]

Furthermore, such individuals were also a key part of the cyclical nature of recovery and relapse:

"She continued to commit crime and commented that his [current boyfriends'] parents were enablers." [Fiona]

"Went out with an ex prisoner who kept him close to taking substances and to crime." [Mark]

As their lives continued, most participants spoke of external influences that led to or supported the cycle of substance misuse and criminal behaviour. Highlighting the impact of both other people and environments, one participant explained:

"She felt she couldn't go on with her life as it was. ... Then she packed two bin bags and walked out of her marriage as knew she couldn't stop addiction if she 1) stayed with husband who was still using and 2) stayed in the same area." [Holly]

Another important consideration linked to adverse childhood experiences is the cyclic effect of risky behaviours affecting the next generation, particularly if such behaviours become the social norm. Previous research suggests individuals with high adverse childhood experience counts increase the risk of exposing their children to adverse experiences (Bellis et al., 2013; Hughes et al., 2017).

Twelve participants mentioned their children during the interview, all of whom could have witnessed substance misuse, domestic violence, mental ill health, parental incarceration and/or parental separation. Three participants specifically identified that their children had witnessed domestic violence and substance misuse and recognised the negative impact their lives could have on the next generation:

"His partner began to drink and get in trouble. He knew his son was seeing his two parents go off the rails... he acknowledges he did a lot of damage to his son in this time" [Ian]

"Domestic violence. She stabbed him, knocked teeth out. He retaliated once... Kids saw it." [Aid]

## 3.2 Interaction with Support Services

The participants discussed both positive and negative interactions with support services. In many instances, participants reported a lack of support from statutory organisations, including schools, health services and police. Conversely, peer support groups received frequent praise for their support towards recovery.

### Early intervention

Ten participants described instances during their childhood where services interacted with their family but no subsequent interventions occurred. The following quotes highlight such missed opportunities to intervene in the home environment and support young people at risk:

"He would jump out of his bedroom window to escape his father's violence and phone calls were made to the police to report domestic incidents, but these were rarely investigated. It was 10 years before the police began to take it seriously." [James]

*"He believed the healthcare services are at most to blame given the inadequate care and support provided to his family."* [Andrew]

"The Police did used to come and were aware of the circumstances but they missed Sarah." [Sarah]

"Social services were desperately needed to intervene in his extended family but this did not happen." [Fred]

Other opportunities to provide early support were dismissed by participants and/or their families due to previous negative experiences with statutory services:

"...social services came to do the door and father rejected this support as had resistance to this from experience in Ireland to take away special needs children." [Bess]

"She was sent to a children's home in Wales, her siblings to distant relatives in Ireland. Said it was awful so never trusted anyone in authority to help again." [Holly]

One participant (Sarah) spoke highly of her interaction with a social worker. Yet, subsequent interaction with the police could have been approached more sensitively and holistically, had they taken into account wider events leading up to Sarah leaving home:

"Sarah's mom was very angry that Sarah had spoken to the social worker and hit her again. This time however Sarah hit her back and left the house to her boyfriend's house. Sarah's mom rang the Police and said she had kidnapped the baby and that she had hit her. The two male police officers that attended gave Sarah two choices. One was to go back to her mom's, the second was to go into foster care until she was 18 with her baby. The Police officer said that her baby may have to stay in foster care until he was 18 too. Sarah was scared of her baby being taken away and so went back to her mom's house. ... When Sarah's baby was 7 or 8 months old and Sarah was 16, her mom kicked her out the house. She had to go to a bedsit. It was mixed accommodation and the owner was a convicted armed robber. She was very vulnerable at this point and was groomed by the bedsit owner who was a lot older than her." [Sarah]

Sarah's story highlights the importance of a joined up approach between services, to ensure visibility of the wider picture and thus appropriate action taken. In this case, Sarah was resilient and received stability during her school life: *"School was her one safe and*"

*consistent place."* She commented that the teachers took the time to listen to her, as well as giving her extra food and drink as they were aware of her family circumstances.

However, in most instances, missed opportunities for early intervention were apparent in the school setting. Sixteen of the participants spoke of negative school experiences including isolation, being bullied, poor academic ability and being disengaged. Despite seeking help at school, particularly for bullying, support was lacking, as emerged from a number of stories.

"He thinks there should have been more support at school – he explained he had told his school he was feeling suicidal but didn't receive any help." [Harry]

"He believes that many of his problems stem from the failure of his school to identify the abuse happening at his home." [James]

"Some children found out her mum had died and they would walk behind her humming the "funeral march". Teachers did nothing. One of her friend's took her to the head of year about the bullying but nothing was done to help." [Louise]

One participant went on to describe how the lack of support regarding the bullying resulted in challenging behaviours:

"I hit a crisis point in my third [school year] because I was bullied. Reached out to the teacher but they didn't listen or do anything. This made me disengaged with school. I started to play truant. Nobody really questioned this or sort to help." [Craig]

With six participants disclosing death of a close family member during their childhood, it follows that improving bereavement counselling to help young people deal with their emotions is vital to healthy coping mechanisms.

"When I look back I feel in my younger years I was kicking back at something and was angry. Maybe this was because of the loss I had ... Things really weren't available for me back then to help address and cope with things." [Chris]

Mental health strategies to prevent adverse experiences and/or moderate their impacts from a young age have been recommended by Hughes et al. (2016). Given their adverse childhood experiences, participants explained how earlier intervention and education to help them process and deal with their emotions would have been particularly welcome:

"I was very much left to deal with my emotions through school and this was something I could have needed help with to understand my emotions better." [Chris]

#### Seeking support

Participants spoke of becoming aware and accepting that they had a problem (typically substance misuse or mental health issue) when reaching a low point and knowing they could not overcome their needs on their own:

"I was starting to fall apart at work and I realised I needed help. I was selfharming and it was noticeable at work. I was using everything as an excuse to do what I was doing. I was crumbling, taking drugs at work, vodka... I had to get help." [Barbara]

"He was drinking constantly through all this. Always super strength beer. Was at an all-time low. ... He started to realise he needed help now. He was at a loss he knew he couldn't stop." [Pete]

Nine participants described help-seeking behaviour when realising they needed help to access support. These behaviours included ringing the Samaritans helpline, self-referral to services, contacting the emergency services, criminal activity and overdosing.

"I took an overdose on purpose at 35. Cry for help." [Barbara]

*"Gave up heroin and took up shop lifting to change the addiction hoping for a cry for help to go to jail to detox."* [Mark]

Having accessed the support services, fifteen participants reported largely disappointing interactions. A variety of issues were described including, a slow process to receive an assessment or referral, the length of support being too short, lack of communication with patient and between services and being given inaccurate information.

"Arranged for him to go to a detox for a week, this was not long enough." [Pete]

"Told to ring [service] but it was a male only treatment centre. Told to ring [service] who didn't do detox." [Louise]

"They [a recovery service] did nothing for me; they just gave me a drink diary and some little advice... it doesn't work, it's just a tick box exercise. It's more about the problem not the person." [Sian]

Louise also commented on the lack of follow up from some services when participants disengaged:

"When people with multiple and complex needs disengage that is a key signal that everything is going very badly, but services take that as a signal that you don't want help or are okay. ... No-one would just phone up and ask questions and probe and push a bit to see that everything wasn't alright." [Louise] Another problem identified was that support services did not consider participants' multiple needs appropriately. Similar to previous research with people experiencing homelessness (Massie et al., 2018), participants described barriers in accessing the services they desperately needed, for example:

"They would only treat the mental health issue before they would treat her [drinking]. This caused relapses." [Jane]

"He defined himself as a 'thief, liar, drug user and violent' which meant health and social cares services did not reach out with the type of support he desperately needed. Alcoholism and violence covered up his genuine needs." [Rob]

Similar to experiences at school, participants described a lack of emotional support when accessing services during adulthood:

"When in hospital they would just treat his symptoms but not his head." [Pete]

"They did nothing to help about how I was feeling. Go to the hospital have an operation then leave, no counselling." [Aid]

Nonetheless, participants also mentioned some examples of positive service interaction. A variety of individuals (including from the recovery community, doctors and emergency services) ensured participants had a positive experience whilst interacting with them through being accessible at all times of the day, trying to understand the underlying problem and taking a holistic approach:

"It's great here [recovery community] because its 24 hour support, it's not a clinical support shutting with no out of hours support... I get support with court, advocacy, benefits, housing, anything I need they can help me with." [Sian]

"I went to the doctor and sat down for the menopause. Right then it could have gone differently. GP said, 'what's really going on?'... I can't sing his praises enough. ... I didn't go for that help, I went for HRT." [Barbara]

*"For me it was people taking their time with me to find out what really is needed for me. It was people who put trust in me."* [Craig]

"One time a paramedic spent hours with her phoning for different services to try and get her help and couldn't get anything. Staff at the hospital listened and were nice - it felt like a place of safety." [Louise]

These positive interactions highlight the importance of services delivering a holistic approach and being responsive to individual needs when working with individuals with multiple and complex needs.

#### **Reintegration into society**

Participants recalled mixed experiences from both services and individuals in relation to reintegrating into society after a period of support, rehabilitation or imprisonment. Participants described a lack of support when exiting rehabilitation centres, which in many circumstances resulted in relapses. Participants typically returned to communities where substance misuse was prevalent and were not provided with adequate support and advice for staying abstinent in such environments:

"Part of the problem was that after going through detox he would go back into the same community of drug users." [Scott]

"As he got older and his problems got worse, he felt that support services did not try and help people get from A-B but instead pushed them back into society when they weren't ready, and hostels are places where people get turned back onto drugs and crime." [James]

Participants spoke of similar experiences upon release from prison:

"He was released aged 21 and had no support after he left. He fell back into reoffending." [Fred]

"After being released he signed on for jobseekers but found it difficult to get a job due to his past convictions. He was unable to find work because of his convictions but was not permitted a parole officer because his sentence was served outside the UK." [James]

Whilst adverse experiences and negative influences of family and peers were discussed earlier, participants also acknowledged family members and friends that tried to help them access relevant support when they found themselves in difficult situations:

"In 2003 he had a mental breakdown. His parents helped him out, and his father called social services. He went to rehab and had a support worker." [lan]

"His drinking was still heavy, and his landlord tried unsuccessfully to find him work." [Harry]

"He states he has been lucky that he has had his brother as a form of peer mentor to help him through." [David]

As mentioned by David, an important factor that helped participants work towards recovery and reintegrate into society successfully was peer support. Empathetic support from an individual with lived experience, to help navigate services and available support, was viewed favourably by nine participants:

"Peer mentoring is the way forward." [Dom]

"There is always someone there that has been through it and are clean, I can rely on them for support and help and advice." [Sian]

"This has transformed her life. Groups all day every day, throughout the week offering support by experience." [Jane]

Two participants spoke of the value that meeting and learning from individuals with lived experience at an earlier point in their lives could have had on them:

"If I had met other people that had the damage I had when I was younger I reckon that would have helped." [Chris]

"I feel like more is needed around educating children early on, not by nurses or teachers, but by people with real life experiences of drugs and alcohol. It is the right way to engage with kids to get them to learn about it. Helps them to spot the early warning signs and be able to do something about it." [Sian]

Further to this, Holly and Craig explained the importance of seeing people with similar experiences who had been successful in turning their lives around from multiple and complex needs:

"When using, you didn't know people that had got clean, only knew addicts. If people disappeared it meant either they had gone to jail or died. Not that they were clean as you never saw them again." [Holly]

"I started to see people that had been going [to AA meetings] come out the other side and were better and happy." [Craig]

With many participants recalling feelings of a lack of hope, boredom and few opportunities for the future, an important part of the recovery process and reintegrating into society is ensuring individuals have an identity and purpose to life. One participant described how successful recovery gave her a more positive outlook:

"I feel the best I have felt for 20 years, most definitely. My life feels meaningful because of the people I'm with (recovery community), purpose and camaraderie." [Barbara]

As previously explored by Massie et al. (2018), providing opportunities for people to have something to do and to use their skills is important for preventing and breaking the cycle of further health risk behaviours as a result of boredom and isolation:

"Part of the programme was outreach type work e.g. volunteering to do gardening at a stately home - important as when drinking completely isolated and this provided other people to meet/talk to." [Louise]

"She was most scared about how she would keep busy and what to do to fill her day [when stopped taking drugs]." [Holly]

Indeed, this supports psychological literature around successful reintegration into society following experience of the criminal justice system. For example, the Good Lives Model (GLM: Ward, 2002) is a widely accepted strength-based rehabilitation framework, which recognises the need for a holistic approach to rehabilitation. The GLM is centered around the concept that successful rehabilitation is contingent on building capabilities and strengths in people. The GLM promotes rehabilitation that is responsive to individuals' particular interests, abilities, and aspirations.

## 4. Summary

Given the estimated prevalence of multiple and complex needs across England (Bramley et al., 2015), research exploring and understanding the lived experience throughout the life course is important in identifying areas in which prevention and intervention should be targeted and improved. Discussing homelessness policy, but relevant to the wider context of multiple and complex needs, Dwyer et al. (2015) argue that improvements to policy and practice will only take place if the focus is on the systems that have created their vulnerability in the first instance.

From interviews with people who have experienced multiple and complex needs in the West Midlands, it is clear that they have faced many challenges throughout their lives, often starting in their early childhood. Consistent with previous research, participants explained how some adverse childhood experiences resulted in engaging in risky health behaviours, such as substance misuse and criminal activities (Bellis et al., 2013; Hughes et al., 2017), and not feeling a sense of belonging in their home or school environment, but instead identifying with others in a similarly excluded position (Blank et al., 2016). The current findings suggest families and schools have an important role to play in building stable and protective childhoods. This supports the findings of Bellis et al. (2013) that this would lead to resilience against health-harming behaviours. Having an awareness of pupil's lives outside of school will help school staff to understand the underlying problems resulting in such health-harming or disruptive behaviours and thus aid the provision of appropriate support at the earliest opportunity.

Experiences of slow referrals, short interventions and poor communication were common within participant stories. The need for more statutory and voluntary services to be coordinated and joined up to ensure clearer pathways to access appropriate support was evident, and consistent with much previous research (Duncan and Corner, 2012; Fuller, 2016; Massie et al., 2018; McNeil and Hunter, 2015; Rosengard et al., 2007). Similar to Anderson (2011) and Rosengard et al. (2007), the participants described trust, holistic approaches and person-centred care as key factors to a successful support service. As discussed earlier, successful reintegration into society needs to recognise the need for holistic approaches, such as the Good Lives Model (Ward, 2002). They should not only equip individuals with the knowledge and skills needed to satisfy their life values, but also the opportunities and resources (in ways that do not harm others). The findings in this report suggest that such models are applicable to multiple complex needs, many of whom have experience of the criminal justice system.

To achieve a person-centred, holistic approach, there is a requirement for services to understand and address multiplicity of needs, particularly when individuals do not reach the threshold for receiving care for a specific need (Duncan and Corner, 2012) and to recognise the challenges associated with providing individualised support such as managing

expectations and appropriate communication (Neale et al., 2018). The Making Every Adult Matter (MEAM) approach describes seven elements to consider when statutory and voluntary agencies collaborate to design effective, coordinated interventions to support individuals living with multiple and complex needs, which in turn could reduce the use and cost of crisis services.

The MEAM Coalition strategy (2018) highlights the nationwide drive towards supporting more people with severe multiple disadvantage, in a collaborative and coordinated approach. One of the four aims in the strategy is to 'promote the value of every adult' through co-production. Participants of this study valued the support and advice they received from peers who had lived experience, and thus truly understood their situation. This supports the importance of coproduction, hearing and learning from the voices of people with experience for supporting individuals to reintegrate into society and redesign of services to support people with multiple and complex needs appropriately.

# 5. References

Anderson, S. (2011). *Complex responses. Understanding poor frontline responses to adults with multiple needs: A review of the literature and analysis of contributing factors.* Revolving Doors Agency, London.

Bellis, M.A. Lowey, H., Leckenby, N., Hughes, K., and Harrison, D. (2013). Adverse childhood experiences: Retrospective study to determine their impact on adult health behaviours and health outcomes in a UK population. *Journal of Public Health, 36 (1)*, 81-91.

Big Lottery Fund. Strategic investments in England: Fulfilling Lives: Supporting People with Complex Needs

https://www.biglotteryfund.org.uk/funding/strategic-investments/multiple-needs

Blank, A., Finlay, L., and Prior, S. (2016). The lived experience of people with mental health and substance misuse problems: Dimensions of belonging. *Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *79 (7)*, 434-441.

Bramley, G., Fitzpatrick, S., Edwards, J., et al. (2015). *Hard Edges: Mapping severe and multiple disadvantage: England.* Lankelly Chase Foundation, London.

Braun, V. and Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3 (2),* 77-101.

Caulfield, L.S. and Hill, J. (2018). *Criminological skills and research for beginners: a student's guide.* London: Routledge.

Cornes, M., Joly, L., Manthorpe, J., O'Halloran, S., and Smyth, R. (2011). Working together to address multiple exclusion homelessness. *Social Policy and Society*, *10 (4)*, 513-522.

Department for Communities and Local Government (2015). *Addressing complex needs: Improving services for vulnerable homeless people.* Department for Communities and Local Government: London. Available online:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/417230/150325 Addressing Complex Needs - final publication amended.pdf

Duncan, M. and Corner, J. (2012). *Severe and Multiple Disadvantage: A review of key texts.* Lankelly Chase Foundation, London.

Dwyer, P., Bowpitt, G., Sundin, E. and Weinstein, M. (2015). Rights, responsibilities and refusals: Homelessness policy and exclusion of single homeless people with complex needs. *Critical Social Policy*, *35* (1), 3-23.

Fuller, J. (2016). The impact of the Health and Social Care Act, 2012 on the health and wellbeing of rough sleepers. *Journal of Integrated Care, 24 (5/6)*, 249-259.

Hughes, K., Bellis, M.A., Hardcastle, K.A., et al. (2017). The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Public Health, 2 (8),* e356-e366.

Hughes, K., Lowey, H., Quigg, Z., and Bellis, M.A. (2016). Relationships between adverse childhood experiences and adult mental well-being: Results from an English national household survey. *BMC Public Health*, *16* (1), 222.

Massie, R., Machin, R., McCormack, F., and Kurth, J. (2018). Having a voice: A collaborative research project exploring the challenges and assets of people experiencing homelessness. *Journal of Integrated Care, 26 (4),* 342-352.

McNeil, C. and Hunter, J. (2015). *Breaking boundaries: Towards a 'Troubled Lives' programme for people facing multiple and complex needs*. Institute for Public Policy Research. Available online: <u>https://www.ippr.org/publications/breaking-boundaries-towards-a-troubled-lives-programme</u>

MEAM Approach. <u>http://www.themeamapproach.org.uk/</u>

MEAM Coalition (2018). *Tackling multiple disadvantage Nationwide. A strategy for the MEAM coalition 2018-2022*. Available online: <u>http://meam.org.uk/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2018/10/HOMJ6444-MEAM-Strategy-doc-181003-WEB.pdf</u>

Miller, R. and Appleton, S. (2015). Multiple Exclusion Homelessness: Is simplicity the answer to this complexity? *Journal of Integrated Care, 23 (1),* 23-34.

Neale, J., Parkman, T., and Strang, J. (2018). Challenges in delivering personalised support to people with multiple and complex needs: Qualitative study. *Journal of Interprofessional Care.* 

Rankin, J., and Regan, S. (2004). *Meeting complex needs: The future of social care.* Turning Points / Institute for Public Policy Research, London: UK.

Rosengard, A., Laing, I., Ridley, J., and Hunter, S. (2007). *A literature review on multiple and complex needs*. Edinburgh, Scotland: Scottish Executive Social Research.

Ward, T. (2002). The management of risk and the design of good lives. *Australian Psychologist*, *37*, 172-179.